

**ORGANIZATIONAL BY-LAWS** (Amended 9/12/01)  
**of**  
**ONONDAGA COUNTY RESOURCE RECOVERY AGENCY**

**ARTICLE I**

**THE AGENCY**

- Section 1.1** **Name** - The name of the Agency shall be the Onondaga County Resource Recovery Agency.
- Section 1.2** **Seal** - The Seal of the Agency shall be in the form of a circle and shall bear the name of the Agency and the year of its organization.
- Section 1.3** **Office of the Agency** - The Office of the Agency shall be located in the County of Onondaga, State of New York.

**ARTICLE II**

**BOARD OF DIRECTORS**

- Section 2.1** **Governing Body** - The governing body of the Agency shall be the Board of Directors.
- Section 2.2** **Membership** - The membership of the Board shall be fifteen: six (6) appointed by the Mayor of the City of Syracuse, four (4) appointed by the Onondaga County Executive, three (3) appointed by the Chairman of the Onondaga County Legislature, one (1) appointed by the town board of the town in which the Agency Waste-to-Energy facility is designated to be located by Resolution of the County Legislature and one (1) appointed by the town board of the town in which the Agency Sanitary Landfill is designated to be located by Resolution of the County Legislature.
- Section 2.3** **Compensation** - Each Director shall serve without compensation, but each shall be entitled to reimbursement of actual and necessary expenses incurred in connection with carrying out the purposes of the Agency.

**ARTICLE III**

**OFFICERS**

- Section 3.1** **Officers** - The Officers of the Agency shall be a Chair, a Vice-Chair and a Treasurer who shall be members of the Agency Board of Directors, and a Secretary who need not be a member of the Agency Board of Directors.

- Section 3.2** **Authorized Officer** - The Chair, Vice-Chair, Treasurer or other member of the Board of Directors or Agent or employee of the Agency may be delegated authority to perform specific acts or duties by duly adopted resolution of the Agency.
- Section 3.3** **Nomination and Appointment** - The Administration Committee shall, at its regular November meeting each year, nominate a slate of Officers, consisting of the Chair, Vice-Chair and Treasurer, from among the members of the Agency Board of Directors. Those candidates shall then be submitted to the full Board for individual approval at its December regular Board meeting or at a special meeting, and if approved by Board action, shall hold office for a one (1) year term commencing on January 1 of the following year. If an individual Officer is not approved by the full Board, the position shall be resubmitted to the Administration Committee for another nominee and a special Board meeting shall be called before the end of the calendar year to act upon the nomination.
- Section 3.4** **Terms of Office** - The Officers of the Board shall serve one year terms.
- Section 3.5** **Removal of Officers** - Any Officer may be removed from office at the pleasure of the Board by a majority vote of the Board of Directors at any regular or special meeting, provided, however, that at least fourteen (14) days actual notice of such proposed action is given to all Directors.
- Section 3.6** **Chair** - The Chair shall preside at all meetings of the Agency and meetings of any executive committee, shall serve as an ex officio member of any executive committee, shall serve as an ex officio of all Agency Committees, and with respect to all actions of the Agency Board of Directors the Chair shall be polled last in the roll call of the Board of Directors.
- Section 3.7** **Vice-Chair** - The Vice Chair shall perform the duties of the Chair in the absence of incapacity of the Chair, and in the event of the resignation, end of appointment or death of the Chair, the Vice-Chair shall perform the duties of the Chair until such time as the Agency shall elect a new Chair.
- Section 3.8** **Treasurer** - The Treasurer shall have the care and custody of all funds of the Agency and shall deposit same, in the name of the Agency, in such bank or banks as the Agency may select pursuant to Article 6 Section 6.2 hereof. Except as otherwise authorized by resolution of the Agency, the Treasurer shall sign all instruments of indebtedness, all orders, and all checks for the payment of money, and shall pay out and reimburse such monies under the direction of the Agency. Except as otherwise authorized by resolution of the Agency, all such instruments of indebtedness, orders, and checks shall be countersigned by the Chair.

The Treasurer shall keep regular books of accounts showing receipts and expenditures, and shall render to the Agency at each regular meeting an account of his transactions and also of the financial condition of the Agency. The

Treasurer shall direct the preparation of and submit annual audits and reports as provided by Article 8, Title 13-B, Section 2045-r of the Public Authorities Law of the State of New York. He shall give such bond for the faithful performance of his duties as the Agency may determine, provisions for such bond shall be paid for by the Agency.

**Section 3.9** **Secretary** - The Secretary shall keep the records of the Agency, shall act as secretary of the meetings of the Agency and maintain a record of all Agency proceedings in a journal of proceedings kept for such a purpose, and shall perform all duties incident to his or her office, including preparation of all reports other than financial reports required by law or agreement to be regularly given. He or she shall have custody of the Seal of the Agency and shall have the power to affix such Seal to all contracts and other instruments authorized to be executed by the Agency.

**Section 3.10** **Additional Duties** - The Officers of the Agency shall perform such other duties and functions as may from time-to-time be authorized by resolution of the Agency or be required by the By-laws of the Agency.

**Section 3.11** **Additional Personnel** - The Agency may from time-to-time employ such personnel as it deems necessary to exercise its powers, duties and functions as prescribed by Article 8, Title 13-B, Section 2045 *et. seq.* of the Public Authorities Law of the State of New York, and all other laws of the State of New York applicable thereto. The selection and compensation of all personnel shall be determined by the Agency subject to the laws of the State of New York.

## ARTICLE IV

### MEETINGS

**Section 4.1** **Annual Meeting** - The Annual Meeting of the Agency shall be held on the second Wednesday in February, annually, at the regular meeting place of the Agency.

**Section 4.2** **Regular Meetings** - Regular meetings of the Agency may be held at such times and places as from time-to-time may be determined by resolution of the Agency.

**Section 4.3** **Special Meetings** - When the Agency Chair deems it desirable he or she may call a special meeting of the Agency. Upon the written request of two Directors of the Agency, the Chair shall call a special meeting of the Agency for the purpose of transacting any business designated in the call. The call for a special meeting shall be delivered to each Director of the Agency personally or by facsimile or by telegram to the business or home address of each Director of the Agency at least two (2) days prior to the date of such special meeting. At such special meeting, no business shall be considered other than as designated in the call, but if all the

Directors of the Agency are present at a special meeting, with or without notice thereof, any and all business may be transacted at such special meeting.

**Section 4.4** **Notice** - Notice of the time and place of each regular meeting of the Agency shall be given to each member by mail at least five (5) calendar days before such meeting or personally or by facsimile or telegram at least twenty-four (24) hours before such meeting. Except as otherwise provided in Article IV relating to the amendment of these By-Laws, Article 3 Section 3.5 relating to the removal of Officers, and in Article 4, Section 4.3 relating to special meetings such notice need not specify the matters to be considered at the meeting. Notices by mail shall be deemed to have been given when mailed to each member at his address appearing on records of the Agency, notices by telegram shall be deemed to have been given when presented for transmission to the telegram company addressed as in the case of notices by mail, notices by facsimile shall be deemed to have been given when transmitted to the business or residence facsimile number appearing on the records of the Agency.

**Section 4.5** **Waiver of Notice** - Notice of any meeting of the Agency need not be given to a member if waived in writing by him or her either before or after such meeting. No notice need be given of any meeting if all the members then in office shall be present thereat. Notice of an adjourned meeting need not be given to anyone present at the time of adjournment.

**Section 4.6** **Quorum** - At all meetings of the Agency, a majority of the members of the Agency shall constitute a quorum for the purpose of transacting any business; or the exercise of any power or function of the Board and, except as otherwise provided in these By-laws or by any special or general law, any act taken by vote of eight shall be the act of the Board; provided that a smaller number may meet and adjourn to some other time or until a quorum is obtained. For any staff employment contracts, the contract may be approved or amended by a vote of eight Board members but may subsequently be cancelled only by a vote of ten Board members.

**Section 4.7** **Order of Business** - At a regular meeting of the Agency, the following shall be the Order of Business:

1. Roll call
2. Reading and approval of the Minutes of the previous meeting
3. Reports of Officers
4. Staff Reports
5. Committee Reports and Resolutions
6. Unfinished Business
7. New Business
8. Program/Presentation
9. Adjournment

The foregoing Order of Business may be changed or modified at any regular meeting, by a resolution of the members made immediately following the roll call, or prior to such meeting by service upon each member of a written agenda with the notice of meeting provided in Section 4.4 of this Article.

**Section 4.8** **Manner of Voting** - The voting on all questions coming before the Agency shall be by roll call, and the yeas, nays and abstentions shall be entered on the Minutes of such meeting, except in the case of appointments when the vote shall be by ballot.

**Section 4.9** **Rules of Procedure** - All meetings of the Agency shall be conducted in accordance with Roberts Rules of Order, current edition.

## ARTICLE V

### GENERAL

**Section 5.1** **Resolutions** - The Agency shall act by Resolution of the Board of Directors. The Agency may from time-to-time consider and adopt resolutions on all matters necessary or convenient for the management and regulation of its affairs subject to applicable law. All resolutions shall be in writing, distributed or read to the members of the Board present at the meeting where such resolution is considered. All passed resolutions shall be copied in, or attached to, a journal of the proceedings of the Agency.

**Section 5.2** **Fiscal Year** - The Agency may, from time-to-time, establish and reestablish its fiscal year.

**Section 5.3** **Committees** - The Agency may form, from time-to-time, such standing or special committees from its membership as it deems desirable to advise the Board on any matter incident to the function of the Agency.

**Section 5.4** **Powers** - The Agency shall do all things necessary or convenient to carry out its purpose and shall exercise the powers expressly given the Agency as set forth in Article 8, Title 13-B of the Public Authorities Law of the State of New York, being sections 2045-a through 2045-x of said law.

**Section 5.5** **Open Meetings Law** - Meetings of the Agency are subject to the provisions of the Open Meetings Law of the State of New York and shall be conducted in compliance therewith.

**Section 5.6** **Designated Official Newspaper** - The Agency may designate a newspaper of general circulation in the Onondaga County area as its official newspaper, for the publication of legal notices, requests for proposals or bids, or other official Agency advertisements or publications.

**Section 5.7** **Authority to Institute Collection Actions** – The Board of Directors of the Onondaga County Resource Recovery Agency has delegated to its Executive Director, acting in consultation with its Agency Counsel, authority to institute any legal actions and/or other proceedings necessary to collect unpaid monies due and owing to the Agency for services provided by the Agency.

## ARTICLE VI

### MISCELLANEOUS

**Section 6.1** **Indemnification** -The Agency shall, to the fullest extent permitted by Article 2 Section 18 of the Public Officers Law of the State of New York and subject to the provisions thereof, indemnify any person made, or threatened to be made, a party to any action or proceeding, other than a criminal action, by reason of the fact that such person, his or her testator or intestate, was a Director or an Officer or employee of the Agency or served at the request of the Agency, as a Director or an Officer or employee of the Agency or served at the request of the Agency, as a Director or an Officer or employee of any subsidiary of the Agency, against judgments, fines, amounts paid in settlement and reasonable expenses, including attorneys' fees, actually and necessarily incurred as a result of such action or proceeding (including any appeal therein).

**Section 6.2** **Designated Depositories** - The Agency shall designate the depositories of its monies, credits and funds either within or without the state. The Agency may require any bank or trust company so designate, in which Agency funds are on deposit or are to be deposited, to deliver to the Agency a surety bond payable to the Agency, executed by a surety company authorized and licensed to transact business in the State of New York and assuring the Agency the payment of such deposits and the agreed interest thereon; or in lieu of a depository bond may require any bank or trust company to deposit with the Agency the bonds or certificates of the United States, the State of New York, any county, town, city, village or school district as surety for such bonds so deposited, but such bond or certificates shall be deposited in such place and held under such conditions as the Agency may determine.

## ARTICLE VII

### AMENDMENTS

**Section 7.1** **Amendments to By-Laws** - The By-Laws of the Agency shall be amended only with the approval of a majority of the Directors of the Agency at a regular or special meeting.

**Section 7.2** No amendment to the By-Laws shall be adopted unless written notice thereof, including the proposed change, has been received by all Directors of the Agency at least seven (7) days in advance of such meeting.

**Enacted by Resolution No. 1 this 31st day of January, 1990, in Onondaga County, State of New York**

**Amended by Resolution No. 110, on March 6, 1991**

**Amended by Resolution No. 738, on December 13, 1995**

**Amended by Resolution No. 1105 on October, 13, 1999**

**Amended by Resolution No. 1240 of September 12, 2001**

---

I, Catherine M. Strong, as Secretary of the Onondaga County Resource Recovery Agency, hereby certify that the above Agency By-Laws are a true and correct copy of the Agency By-Laws of the Onondaga County Resource Recovery Agency, as Amended, in effect on this date and filed in the minutes of the Agency in my office at 100 Elwood Davis Road, North Syracuse, N.Y.

---

Catherine M. Strong  
Onondaga County Resource Recovery Agency  
Agency Secretary

Dated: \_\_\_\_\_